STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 13 2014

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III Circuit Court Judge

Case No.2013-002582 (Order, S.C. Ct. App., filed May 22, 2004)

Alan Wilson, in his Capacity as Attorney General of
South Carolina; and others, Plaintiffs,

v.

Albert H. Dallas and others, Defendants.

Of whom Adele J. Pope, Individually and on behalf of Others under
South Carolina Trust Code Section 62-7-405, is the.....Petitioner,

And Terry Brown, Forlando Brown, James B., David G. Cannon, Albert H. Dallas
and Tommie Rae Hynie are..... Respondents,

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **Should dismissal of the appeal be reversed because the Bauknight Appointment Order is final and appealable; Petitioner is aggrieved; and Petitioner has standing to appeal?**
- II. **Do Bauknight's irreconcilable conflicts, including serving as Agent for Tommie Rae, preclude his serving as PR or Trustee?**
- III. **Did the Court's appointment of one PR/Trustee violate *Wilson v. Dallas*?**

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner asks this Court to reverse the decision of the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissing her appeal of the order of the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, dated October 1, 2013 appointing Russell L. Bauknight to serve as sole fiduciary under the will and 2000 Trust of entertainer James Brown ("PR/Trustee")¹.

Petitioner asks this Court to find that the appointment order is final and immediately appealable; she has standing; and she is aggrieved by the order.

Petitioner and Robert Buchanan, Jr. as Brown's PR/Trustees. Their replacement by the circuit court was affirmed in this Court's decision in *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013).

During the pendency of the *Wilson v. Dallas* appeal, Buchanan and Petitioner were sued for ten million dollars or more by the Attorney General of South Carolina ("AG") and Bauknight acting on behalf of the AG, Tommie Rae

¹ Petitioner also appeals the form 4 Order which denied reconsideration of the October 3, 2013 order.

Hynie ("Tommie Rae") and others in Richland County Case 2010-CP-40-4900 (the "Wingate Suit"). The law firm of Kenneth Wingate, Esquire ("Wingate") is sole plaintiffs' counsel in the Wingate Suit.

Since 2011 the AG and Bauknight have succeeded in having two Newberry County suits filed by Petitioner under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") moved to Richland County. One has been consolidated with the Wingate Suit. Another awaits a consolidation hearing.

The AG and Bauknight are seeking to have the unrelated FOIA of a journalist transferred to Richland County and consolidated with the Wingate Suit. [Appendix, p. 157]

Petitioner is a creditor of Brown's estate. Since May 8, 2013 she has served *pro bono publico* to help anyone interested in enforcing the "I Feel Good" Foundation. [Appendix, pp. 68, 70-71]

Petitioner was enjoined from participating in the Bauknight appointment proceeding by orders issued *sua sponte* without notice or hearing on June 13, 2013, by the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. The June 13 orders, failing to note that Petitioner is being sued by the Estate and 2000 Trust directed that *Wilson v. Dallas* prevents Petitioner from participating in any James Brown trust or estate case. [Appendix, pp. 173-74]. s being sued by the Estate and Trust in the Wingate Suit.

The appointment order was granted based on a petition not served on anyone, and after a hearing at which only the circuit court posed questions. No examination was made of the FOIA cases and Wingate Suit. Bauknight's

continued service as fiduciary and agent for Tommie Rae was not mentioned. [Appendix, pp. 161-62, 164]. What appears to have been an unauthorized 4-year claim that Bauknight is acting for the State/AG was not addressed.

The appointment order praises both Bauknight and his attorneys for their accomplishments; appoints Bauknight sole PR/Trustee; and designates his appointee to perform certain tasks.

The appointment order damages Petitioner. It places the "I Feel Good" Trust in great jeopardy. The implications of the appointment order threaten private philanthropy in South Carolina.

Statement of the Case

On May 8, 2013 the South Carolina Supreme Court decision in *Wilson v. Dallas* voided a 2008 settlement reached by the AG which dismembered James Brown's "I Feel Good" Foundation.

The Court voided the appointment of Bauknight. It directed the circuit court, upon proper application, to appoint fiduciaries to oversee these matters in accordance with the provisions of Brown's estate and trust, and to evaluate the propriety of all fees related to the case. *Id.* at 449-50, 743 S.E.2d at 767-68.

At a status conference held May 29, 2013 counsel for Tommie Rae and attorney Louis Levenson, Esquire ("Levenson") announced their intention to reinstate the Attorney General's 2008 settlement. The AG announced his intention to withdraw from the Aiken County cases.

On June 13, 2013 the circuit court *sua sponte* issued orders enjoining

Petitioner from participating in James Brown estate and trust cases².

The circuit court's June 13 orders directed that Petitioner's unheard motions be removed from the public record, and that the clerk not accept future filings. [Appendix, pp. 113, 126, 127]

On July 29, 2013 Bauknight filed a petition to be sole PR/Trustee. He asked for a limited appointment of David Sojourner. [Appendix, p. 9]

The petition failed to name heirs, beneficiaries or creditors with proper demands for notice. The petition was not served on anyone. [Appendix, p. 50]

On September 4, Bauknight presented his petition to the circuit court. No questions were allowed to be asked by those attending. [Appendix, p. 10]

On October 3, the Bauknight appointment order was filed. [Appendix, p. 8] The order did not name the parties. [Appendix, p. 8]

On December 9, 2013, after denial of her timely motion to alter or amend by Form 4 order, Petitioner served an amended notice of appeal of the orders.

The appeal was filed with an appeal of the June 13 injunction orders, Appellate Case No. 2014-001649. It was treated by the Court as a different case.

On December 12, 2013 Petitioner sought direction as to the parties to the appeal because the appealed orders did not name parties. [Appendix, p. 36]

On December 23, 2013, Petitioner filed a memorandum related to appealability and an affidavit in support of the motion. [Appendix, pp. 39, 67]

² The June 13 orders did not address the Wingate Suit which the AG and Bauknight in multiple capacities against Petitioner and Buchanan in 2010; two FOIA suits in which Bauknight was seeking to intervene; or the "Forlando Federal Suit" brought by Forlando Brown on January 2, 2008 to enjoin the 2000 Trust until Respondents Cannon and Dallas were reinstated.

On January 30, 2014 Petitioner served a reply to the letter/return of Mr. Sojourner to her memorandum related to appealability. [Appendix, p. 103]

On January 30, 2014 the Honorable Paul E. Short, Jr. issued an order dismissing the appeal. [Appendix, p. 3]

On February 12, 2014 Appellant served a petition for rehearing; a memorandum seeking abeyance; and an affidavit. [Appendix, pp. 125, 132, 140]

On February 24, Bauknight filed returns to the rehearing and abeyance motions. [Appendix, pp. 142, 150]

On February 28, 2014 Petitioner replied. [Appendix, pp. 153, 189]

By Order dated May 22, 2014, Judge Short, for the Court, denied Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. [Appendix, p. 1]

Statement of Facts

On August 9, 2008 the estate plan of James Brown was ironclad. It was even confirmed in his own voice tape. [Appendix, pp. 40, 117, 167]

An official DNA testing program for non-presumed children was being used to identify Brown's heirs under the Federal Copyright Act. The estate was working to have termination rights agreements with the most cooperative half of Brown's children not challenging his estate plan. This would secure the "I Feel Good" Trust's 800+ copyrights for decades. [Appendix, pp. 204, 205]

All of Brown's acknowledged children and his fiduciaries were on record confirming Brown was not married at his death. This position was supported by complete records of the legal wrangling between Brown and Tommie Rae after Brown discovered she was married when they conducted a 2001 ceremony.

On July 30, 2008 the AG had written Petitioner and Buchanan to approve their permanent service as Trustees. The AG never challenged them as PRs.

On August 10, 2008 the AG reached a settlement, set out in detail in *Wilson v. Dallas*.

Tommie Rae and her son were declared to be Brown's heirs. At least half of Brown's children were excluded from the AG's 2008 settlement.

The AG contracted with Tommie Rae and others:

...that a joint motion or other pleading will be filed seeking the removal of Mr. Robert Buchanan and Ms. Adele Pope as Personal Representatives of the Estate of James Brown and as Trustees of the August 1, 2000 Irrevocable Trust of James Brown, deceased and will mutually agree upon persons to appoint as successor representatives of the estate and trust... [Appendix, p. 160]

On January 30, 2009 Terry joined the AG's settlement and acquired a right of first refusal ("ROFR") to buy the estate assets. [Appendix, p. 161]

On January 30, 2009 Bauknight asked the circuit court to approve the settlement. [Appendix, p. 160]

On May 26, 2009 the circuit court approved the AG's settlement. Buchanan and Pope were replaced. Bauknight, in addition to being trustee of the AG's Legacy Trust, became PR/Trustee.

The Advisory Board was not consulted. Buchanan's and Pope's nomination of former Warner Music executive Ray Gonzalez and distinguished attorney Ronald Stanley as their successors was not considered.

Buchanan and Petitioner, as required by Brown's documents, appealed.³

There was simply no legal or factual support for giving Tommie Rae about \$11 million or her attorneys about \$10 million. Nor was there any reason to give 25% of the "I Feel Good" Trust assets to the Levenson clients, with about \$9 million going to Levenson. [Appendix, pp. 166-67]

All who challenged Brown's estate plan have confirmed:

...the establishment of a Charitable Trust intended to provide financial assistance to deserving students who seek education in South Carolina and Georgia. This objective was the often stated and well-known desire of James Brown. [Appendix, pp. 166-67]

Terry's ROFR posed another problem: the threat of devaluation by the "family" to acquire the music empire from the "I Feel Good" Trust.

On May 19, 2010 three lawyers expecting about \$20 million from the AG's settlement, with Bauknight, secretly signed a 40% contingency fee contract authorizing the Wingate Suit.

On May 19, 2010 the AG and Bauknight sued Buchanan and Petitioner in the Wingate Suit. Buchanan later described to the circuit court how the Wingate Suit, unwarranted attacks and no pay damaged him:

In the spring of 2010 I was given an ultimatum by the settling parties: dismiss the appeal or be sued. In May 2010 they sued me for \$10,000,000.00 in Case 4900 Richland County. This lawsuit caused, inter alia, my successor professional liability carrier to refuse to renew my coverage and to sue me.

As I was and am the sole breadwinner in my household, through the years

³ The 5-year legal cost of protecting the estate plan, including for the seven days of circuit court hearings, was about, \$200,000. Their own involvement and the *pro bono publico* service of lead appellate counsel James B. Richardson, Jr. helped reduce costs down. [Appendix, p.]

I utilized assets which my wife and I owned jointly, to supplement the lost earnings...

In January 2011 the AG amended the Legacy Trust. Terry transferred his estate interest and ROFR to Forlando. [Appendix, pp. 166-67]

In March 2011 the Court of Appeals dismissed as premature an appeal by Buchanan and Petitioner challenging Wingate's serving as sole attorney for the State/AG and Tommie Rae.

In April 2011 a draft professional article, *Private Foundations, Copyright Heirs and Musical Millionaires: or Why the James Brown "I Feel Good" Trust doesn't...*, outlined the devastation of the "I Feel Good" Trust's copyrights calling a non-wife a wife and giving Terry the ROFR. [Appendix, p.83]

In May 2011 Bauknight and the AG asked the Supreme Court to supplement the record on appeal ("ROA") in the *Wilson v. Dallas* appeal with a \$4.7 million value for Brown's music empire and \$.5 million for his tangible personal property.⁴ Previous fiduciaries, under oath valued the music empire at about \$84 million. The Court declined. [Appendix, p. 114]

In 2011 the AG and Bauknight began to accuse Buchanan and Petitioner of the federal felony of intentionally overstating the value of Brown's music empire by \$79 million to the IRS on the estate tax return for the improper purpose

⁴This reduced the value to less than 1/15 the valued reported by Petitioner under oath to the IRS, and changed it from the \$100 million less \$15 million TIAA debt reported by Respondent Dallas on the original I&A.

Bauknight did not file the appraisal supporting the amended I&A as required by the South Carolina Probate Code ("SCPC").

of obtaining a \$5 million commission. [Appendix, p. 62] If true, this false claim could have ended their careers⁵.

The AG and Bauknight claimed there was no support for the \$84 million value. [Appendix, p. 197] The \$84 million was consistent with a valuation formula presented to the Circuit Court by Buchanan and Petitioner in 2007 before their appointment and before any challenges to the Will. Neither the AG nor anyone opposed the formula. [Appendix, pp. 61-63]

The AG and Bauknight told the Court there was never an offer to buy Brown's music empire. At the same time they were suing Buchanan and Petitioner for not accepting a \$100 million offer.⁶ [Appendix, pp. 61-63]

Bauknight claims his \$4.7 million is the first professional appraisal. But a professional 2006 Royal Bank of Scotland ("RBS") appraisal had valued the royalties alone at about at about \$42 million. The royalties are about half the value of the music empire. [Appendix, p. 197-98]

In August 2011 Petitioner filed FOIA #1 and FOIA #2 in Newberry County.

Bauknight moved to intervene in both FOIA #1 and FOIA #2. Bauknight and the AG had both FOIA suits transferred to Richland County.

FOIA #1 is awaiting a hearing on consolidation with the Wingate Suit FOIA

⁵ On June 12, 2014 Petitioner learned that the AG claims he never saw the \$4.7 million appraisal which allegedly supported these false felony claims which are being continued by Bauknight as claimed agent for the AG. He relied solely on Bauknight.

⁶ The 2007 \$100 million offer was actually made to Buchanan's and Petitioner's predecessors, including Respondent Dallas.

#2 has been consolidated. The result: no FOIA compliance.⁷

On November 1, 2011 Bauknight, through counsel, told the Court that Tommie Rae's elective share claim was a "slam dunk." He said Tommie Rae and her son controlled the Federal Copyright Act termination rights.

In April 2012 Forlando's injunction suit against the 2000 Trust was dismissed. Counterclaims continue. Concealing the ROFR and estate share from

⁷ Petitioner asks the Court to take judicial notice of Newberry County Case No. 2012-CP-36-00688 where the AG and Bauknight seek to consolidate a FOIA suit by a Newberry journalist who began covering James Brown cases shortly after FOIA #1 was filed. The AG told the Court on June 11, 2014:

The signed Legacy Trust and Amendments

..we do not have nor have we ever had any copy or original Legacy Trust other than, as I noted in Court, the unsigned drafts.
[But See Appendix, p. 30 for Legacy Trust amendment of January 2011, signed by the Attorney General.]

Of Tommie Rae's widely-distributed and discussed writings, the AG said:

The Tommie Rae Hynie Brown diaries

The only issue about the Brown diaries pertinent to the instant suit is whether they are subject to disclosure. They are not. They are subject to an Aiken County Order referenced multiple times. That Order forbids dissemination of the diaries.

As to the \$4.7 million appraisal which the AG used as the basis of career-threatening felony claims against Buchanan and Petitioner, the AG said:

The \$4.7 million appraisal and related documents

Plaintiff complains that the OAG says it does not have the appraisal while referencing it in Court documents. The reference to the appraisal was based upon a representation of Russell Bauknight, a fiduciary. The OAG has never seen the appraisal and does not have it.

[Ltr. of Alan Wilson, AG, J. Emory Smith, Jr. Deputy Solicitor General, to Hon. Eugene C. Griffith, dtd. June 11, 2014, p. 2]

Terry, Forlando told the court he had no funds to pay the Trust's legal costs of his suit and no expectation from the Brown estate unless his father were deceased.

Bauknight knew Forlando owned the ROFR, but failed to tell the Court.

In July 2012 Bauknight paid Buchanan \$500,000 from Brown's estate to release Tommie Rae, the AGand others from his counterclaims in the Wingate Suit.

In late 2012 Bauknight paid Wingate \$560,000+, in addition to the 40% contingency. He did not disclose this until after the appointment order.

After July 2012, Bauknight and the AGdirected their attacks only at Petitioner, even though all acts of Buchanan and Petitioner were joint.

On February 27, 2013 the first *Wilson v. Dallas* opinion was issued. Footnote 29 of the opinion raised questions about the Wingate Suit and FOIA.

Footnote 29 was not in the substituted May 8, 2013 decision.

On May 12 Bauknight told the court in the Wingate Suit:

The Supreme Court, in substituting the new opinion has completely eliminated Footnote 29 from the prior opinion. Footnote 29 addressed, among other items, the FOIA matters and called for them to be heard "in the first instance" without clear definition ... the court no longer puts any primacy or priority on any court hearing these matters. [Emphasis supplied.]

Bauknight, still claiming to speak for the AGand Tommie Rae, asked to delay the FOIA suits and Wingate Suit until the conclusion of all Aiken County litigation. Tommie Rae's deposition had been noticed, a summary judgment that she was not Brown's wife was ready to be heard.

On May 29 Tommie Rae and Levenson announced their intention to

reinstate the 2008 settlement.

On July 29 Bauknight filed his petition seeking to be sole PR/Trustee.

On August 20, 2013 Bauknight was deposed in the Forlando Federal Suit.

Asked if Petitioner helped the estate by the *Wilson v. Dallas* appeal, he said:

That's poppycock. Pure speculation from your client. Fantasy...I'm the person who actually looked at this. And I said it was a fair and reasonable settlement. I don't know where this fantasy is that \$50 million was gone away. Number one, your client made up that number. Your client did that in a self-serving fashion so that she could take \$5 million out of this estate for her retirement. So to say that this would have diminished is a load. A total load. I looked at this. I say. You have no clue how termination rights where [sic].

You don't know the value. . . She has no clue what she was dealing with and put stuff in the paper that it's just totally fabricated untrue. It blows me away that someone with a law degree can be so dishonest and get away with it. ...You know, what? That's set aside by the Supreme Court. That's fine. I've got a new roadmap, and I'm going to follow this new roadmap to a T....

...[Y]our client raped this estate taking every dime out of it for her own fees and for Bob's fees and her lawyer's fees leaving it insolvent....Your client didn't even try. Your client didn't know the numbers. I know the numbers. There was no diminished Legacy Trust. That's fabrication from your client. [Emphasis supplied.] [Appendix, p. 119]

On September 4 Bauknight presented his petition to the circuit court. He was not asked about his failure to account for 18 months; his service as agent and fiduciary for Tommie Rae; his service to Levenson in the Wingate Suit; his attempts to intervene in three FOIA suits ; his service as trustee of the Attorney General's Legacy Trust; or his claim to speak for the State/AG.

Public documents Bauknight seeks to keep from FOIA disclosure include:

1. The Wingate Litigation Agreement;

2. The signed Legacy Trust, and amendments, [a Wingate Suit plaintiff];
3. The widely disseminated handwritten notes of Tommie Rae;
4. The \$4.7 million appraisal used to support the felony claims;

Had Bauknight accounted or filed the appraisal as required, the circuit court would have known about the \$560,000+ he paid to Wingate in 2012.

On September 23 attorney Marc Toberoff questioned the estate's agent's helping Tommie Rae file copyright termination notices when she is not the spouse and her son not a son. [Appendix, p. 206]

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