RECEIVED

JUL 16 2014

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002582 (Order, S.C. Ct. App., filed May 22, 2014)

Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2014-001279

Alan Wilson, in his Capacity as Attorney General of
South Carolina; and others.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Albert H. Dallas and others,.....Defendants.

Of whom Adele J. Pope, individually and on behalf of Others under South Carolina Trust
Code Section 62-7-405, is the.....Petitioner,

And Terry Brown, Forlando Brown, James B., David G. Cannon, Albert H. Dallas and

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

On page 14 of her Petition, Pope alleges that an agent of the Estate helped Tommie Rae Hynie Brown ("Tommie Rae") "file copyright termination notices." (Petition, p. 14). That is not a correct statement. The truth is that Tommie Rae solicited

help from the Estate and Trust's music manager in California; the music manager called Bauknight and he (Bauknight) instructed the music manager to do nothing to aid her.

Finally, Pope alleges that "[e]very act since October 2013 by Bauknight or his appointee has damaged the 'I Feel Good' Trust; helped to destroy the 'I Feel Good' Trust's copyrights in favor of Tommie Rae; and helped defeat the interests or [sic] Petitioner; at least HALF of Brown's real heirs; and all others who seek to save the 'I Feel Good' Trust from a second dismemberment." (Petition, p. 14). With the exception of the Estate and Trust's objection to Pope's fee claim for millions of dollars, these argumentative words have no relationship to reality.

Pope seeks to convince anyone who will listen that no one but her is interested in protecting the Estate and Trust. Those words, however, do not comport with the factual findings that the circuit court made in the Interim Appointment Order. In that order, the circuit court acknowledged Bauknight's service and articulated specific examples of his positive work. (Order, pp. 4-8 (App. pp. 11-15)). These acknowledgements provide a reviewing court the benefit of having those factual findings when analyzing Pope's "writings."

Pope's refusal to comply with this Court's decision in *Wilson v. Dallas* flows from her refusal to accept the fact that her services, as this Court held, are "not in the best interests of the Estate," *Wilson*, 403 S.C. at 449, 743 S.E.2d at 767, and that the millions of dollars in fees she seeks is exorbitant. Her repeated actions are needlessly wasting Estate and Trust resources.

II. What Has Happened After Remand Ordered in *Wilson v. Dallas*

Before turning to the legal arguments that are the subject of Pope's petition, it may be helpful to update the Court on the status of the underlying litigation. After this

Court vacated the settlement agreement in *Wilson v. Dallas*, the previous alignment of the parties shifted. With the settlement vacated, adversarial litigation resumed. Sojourner is now defending the Estate and Trust against the claims made in the Will and Trust challenges. Supporting him in that effort is one of James Brown's sons, Terry Brown. The remaining children who were named in the Will and Tommie Rae are attempting to set aside the estate plan. A more detailed update on the status of the litigation follows.

A. Spousal Claim

The parties have agreed to a summary judgment briefing schedule on the single issue of whether Tommie Rae is the surviving spouse of the late James Brown. On September 30, 2014, the parties will argue cross motions for summary judgment on this precise issue. If the Estate and Trust wins that argument, then that case is over, unless an appeal is filed. But even if summary judgment is granted in favor of Tommie Rae, as this Court noted in *Wilson v. Dallas*, she must still prove that the prenuptial agreement is not enforceable. 403 S.C. at 440, 743 S.E.2d at 762. Further, again as this Court noted in *Wilson v. Dallas*, even assuming Tommie Rae could meet that burden, she would still have to prove that she was not intentionally omitted from the Will. *Id.* at 441, 743 S.E.2d at 762. For her omitted spouse claim, Tommie Rae must also show that James Brown made no transfers to her outside of the Will that were intended to be in lieu of a testamentary transfer. S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-301.

B. Undue Influence Claim

All of the children named in the Will (excluding Terry Brown) are seeking to set aside the estate plan. Tommie Rae is also seeking to set aside the estate plan. All claimants contend the estate plan is subject to attack based upon undue influence. The parties are in the midst of discovery on this issue.

C. Update on Other Claimed Children of James Brown Not Mentioned in the Will

Cinnamon N.M. Paris and LaRhonda Petit asserted claims that they were putative heirs of James Brown and that his estate plan should be set aside for undue influence. Their claims have been dismissed. While these unsuccessful claimants did not appeal, Pope did.³

A California resident named Michael Deon Brown has successfully petitioned the circuit court to recognize that he is a lawful heir of James Brown.⁴ Michael Brown provided sufficient documentation of paternity to meet his burden of proof and the circuit court issued an order acknowledging that Michael Brown is an heir of the late James Brown. Michael Brown is not challenging the validity of the estate plan.

Jeanette Mitchell has petitioned the circuit court to recognize her as a lawful heir of James Brown. The circuit court recently ruled that, although Jeanette Mitchell filed her claim outside of the timeframe set forth in §62-2-109, the circuit court would not dismiss her claim, finding that her facts fit within this Court's holding in *Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 443 S.E.2d 388 (1994).

The Estate and Trust moved the circuit court to issue an order requiring James B. (Tommie Rae's son) to undergo supervised DNA testing to determine the validity of his claim as an omitted child. The circuit court subsequently issued an order, and James B. underwent supervised testing. On June 10, 2014, the results were released. For now, the results of that test are confidential, pursuant to the circuit court's May 21, 2014 Protective

³ On June 16, 2014 the court of appeals dismissed that appeal, noting that she was not a party and had not been aggrieved by the order. The appellate case number is 2014-000794.

⁴ Pope mentions Michael Deon Brown in her petition. She does not represent him. He is represented by David Bell, of Augusta, Georgia, and Matthew Bodman, of Columbia, South Carolina.

Order. James B. does not seek to set aside the estate plan; however, he is making a claim as an omitted child. Like his mother, Tommie Rae, he must (assuming the DNA results are favorable) prove that James Brown did not intentionally omit him from his Will and that James Brown made no transfers to him outside of the Will that were intended to be in lieu of a testamentary transfer. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-302.

D. Creditor Claims Against the Estate and Trust

At the time of Bauknight's first appointment in 2009, there were twenty-six creditor claims pending against the Estate and Trust. Since remand the Estate and Trust have continued to work diligently to resolve all of the claims. At present, there are only five remaining claims: (1) Dallas' claim; (2) Pope's claim; (3) a claim by the ALPS Corporation for monies advanced to Pope's attorneys for their fees in the federal case filed by William Forlando Brown, *see supra* n.2; (4) a claim by Charles Bobbit for pre-death personal management services; and (5) a claim by Intrigue for music management services.

E. Pope

As this Court is well aware, Pope was removed from her previous fiduciary position for cause. In *Wilson v. Dallas*, this Court unequivocally held:

Appellants [Pope and Buchanan] have sought \$5 million in fees for their services as fiduciaries for a relatively short interval of time. In addition, Appellants sought and obtained permission from the circuit court to sell iconic assets from Brown's estate in order to raise funds, and a large portion of the amount raised went first to pay Appellants' own attorneys' fees. Appellants also unsuccessfully attempted to sell Brown's GRAMMY award at auction; the process was halted only because officials from the National Academy of Recording Arts and Sciences reclaimed the award after informing Appellants that it was a longstanding policy that the award could not be sold by recipients or anyone acting on their behalf. These actions and the extreme discord between the parties convince us that Appellants' continued service as fiduciaries is not in the best interests of the estate.

403 S.C. at 448-49, 743 S.E.2d at 766-67.

Pope was not involved in any of the proceedings below as this Court specifically affirmed her removal for cause as a fiduciary. We believe that this Court's holding in *Wilson v. Dallas* contemplated that Pope's involvement with the Estate and Trust as a fiduciary or otherwise was over.

III. Standard for Writ of Certiorari

In addition to Pope not having standing to involve herself in this litigation, there is nothing significant about this case. It involves the application of settled law regarding standing and the appealability of certain types of orders. Respectfully, there is no basis for this Court to grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Rule 242(b), SCACR, sets forth the guidelines for determining whether this Court should utilize its discretionary power to grant the writ. While these factors are not controlling in the Court's decision, the present absence of all of these factors should counsel against the Court exercising its discretionary authority.

A. Rule 242 Considerations

1. Novel Questions of Law

There are no novel questions of law. The question is whether a non-party may appeal from an interim order appointing temporary fiduciaries to an estate and trust. The answer to that question is clearly no.

2. Dissent at the Court of Appeals

The court of appeals decision did not contain a dissent. The full panel decided to dismiss the appeal, and affirmed that decision upon reconsideration.

3. *Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with Supreme Court Decision*

There is no conflict. The court of appeals faithfully applied this Court's precedent and the appellate court rules promulgated by this Court.

4. *Substantial Constitutional Issues*

There are no constitutional issues involved. Pope contends that the Interim Appointment Order violated her due process rights. (Petition, p. 16). She argues that the "summons and petition were not served . . . [and that there] was no proper notice." (Petition, p. 16). Because Pope has no legal interest in the Estate and Trust, she was not served with Bauknight and Sojourner's applications and she did not receive notice from them because she was not entitled to notice. There are no constitutional issues present in this case.

5. *Federal Question that Conflicts with a United States Supreme Court Decision*

The court of appeals applied state law. This factor is not applicable.

B. Other Considerations

Again, there is nothing significant about this case. Pope does not have standing, and the Interim Appointment Order is not appealable. The court of appeals correctly dismissed the appeal. In an effort to manufacture an appellate foothold, Pope has made extraneous arguments that have nothing to do with this case and bear no resemblance to the reality of the Estate and Trust's affairs. Pope's "writings" are undermined by the absence of any interested party in this appeal; her speculative arguments are supported by nothing more than her own briefs and affidavits. The factual findings of the circuit court contradict her arguments. Funds that should be deposited into a scholarship reserve fund are being directed to pay litigation costs unnecessarily incurred by Pope's frivolous lawsuits and appeals.

IV. Pope is Not a Party & Lacks Standing to Appeal

The court of appeals correctly concluded that Pope lacks standing to appeal. It is important to clearly frame the issue presented. Pope does not represent any of James Brown's heirs. Nor does she represent the Estate and Trust. She represents *only* herself and she has *no* cognizable legal interest in who serves as the interim Personal Representatives and Trustees.

A. Pope is Not a Party

Pope is not a party. Once the Aiken County Clerk of Court received the remittitur, Pope's involvement in the Estate and Trust litigation ceased. "An appeal filed by one who has ceased to be a party to a suit is a mere nullity." *Nance v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 273 S.C. 617, 619, 258 S.E.2d 105, 1065 (1979). "A party cannot appeal from a decision which does not affect his or her interest . . ." *Beaufort Realty Co., Inc. v. Beaufort County*, 346 S.C. 298, 301, 551 S.E.2d 588, 589-90 (Ct. App. 2002). Pope's appeal is a nullity and should be treated as such.

B. Pope was Not Aggrieved

This is an appeal from an interim order appointing temporary fiduciaries. Pope was not appointed, did not apply to become one, and indeed could not apply to be a fiduciary because the circuit court and this Court had already determined that her continued participation is not in the best interests of the Estate. To have standing to appeal from an order, Pope must be an "aggrieved party." Rule 201(b), SCACR ("Only a party aggrieved by an order, judgment, or sentence may appeal."). To be an aggrieved party, Pope must show the appealed order "operates on h[er] rights of property or bears directly upon h[er] interest, the word aggrieved referring to a substantial grievance, a denial of some personal or property right or the imposition on a party of a burden or

obligation.” *Bivens v. Knight*, 254 S.C. 10, 13, 173 S.E.2d 150, 152 (1970); *see also Burns v. Gardner*, 328 S.C. 608, 617-18, 493 S.E.2d 356, 361 (Ct. App. 1997) (refusing to entertain the appellants’ appeal from a sanctions order because the trial court imposed sanctions against the appellants’ attorney, which did not prejudice the appellants’ rights).

Other than her claim against the Estate for fees, which is a separate and standalone case pending in the circuit court, Pope has no interest in the Estate and Trust and cannot pursue this appeal. *See Bivens*, 254 S.C. at 13, 173 S.E.2d at 152 (“The right of review is restricted to persons or parties aggrieved by the decision below. A party, therefore, cannot appeal from a decision which does not affect his interest . . .”).

C. Other Arguments Related to Standing

In her petition, Pope cursorily sets forth numerous arguments to support her claim that she has standing to appeal. Not one of them has any merit, as explained below.

1. *Pope Does Not Have Standing Under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-405*

Pope claims to have standing as an “other” under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-405. Subsection (c) reads as follows: “The settlor of a charitable trust, the trustee, and the Attorney General, *among others* may maintain a proceeding to enforce the trust.” (emphasis added). The term “others” is not defined by the statute. For purposes of this appeal, it is safe to say that a former trustee who was removed for cause and because it would not be “in the best interest” for her to continue to serve as a fiduciary, is *not* an “other” who can enforce the trust. *Wilson*, 403 S.C. at 449, 743 S.E.2d at 767.

2. *The Interim Appointment Order Does Not Affect Pope*

Pope writes the following regarding the Interim Appointment Order: “Her property, profession and even liability even liberty are at stake.” (Petition, p. 20). She provides nothing to support this assertion. And the Interim Appointment Order does no

such thing. It merely paves the way, at this time, for the continued successful and orderly administration of the Estate and Trust and the defense of James Brown's estate plan until litigation involving the Estate and Trust is concluded.

3. *Pope's Fee Claim Does Not Give Her Standing*

Pope argues that she is a party to this action because she is a "creditor." (Petition, p. 20). Pope's claim as a creditor, in which she seeks, as the Court is well aware, millions of dollars in fees, is presently pending in Aiken County under a separate and standalone civil action. Her creditor's claim is not affected by the Interim Appointment Order and does not give Pope standing to re-insert herself in the Estate and Trust litigation, especially when this Court has held that her continued service was not in the best interests of the estate. *Wilson*, 403 S.C. at 447-49, 743 S.E.2d at 766-67; *cf.* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-608 ("Termination [of the personal representative] does not affect the jurisdiction of the court over the personal representative, but terminates his authority to represent the estate in any pending or future proceeding.").

4. *Pope Does Not Have Public Importance Standing*

Pope argues that "[she] and Buchanan⁵ have Public Interest Standing" to challenge the Interim Appointment Order. (Petition, p. 20). Pope is likely referring to the "public importance" doctrine. It is of no benefit to her because it is being raised for the first time in her Petition. Accordingly, it is not properly before this Court. *Norton v. Opening Break of Aiken, Inc.*, 319 S.C. 469, 470, 462 S.E.2d 861, 862 (1995); *accord* Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR.

As to the merits of this claim: first, Buchanan is not a party to this appeal. Second, as discussed in Part IV.B., *supra*, Pope is not an aggrieved party. Thirdly, this

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